RECEIVED

03-12-2019

STATE OF WISCONSIN CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT I

DISTRICT

Case Nos. 2019AP000017-CR & 2019AP000018-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

PARIS MARKESE CHAMBERS,

Defendant-Appellant.

On Appeal from a Judgment of Conviction and an Order Denying Postconviction Relief, Both Entered in the Milwaukee County Circuit Court, the Honorable Christopher T. Dee Presiding

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

LEON W. TODD Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1050407

Office of the State Public Defender 735 North Water Street, Suite 912 Milwaukee, WI 53202 (414) 227-4805 toddl@opd.wi.gov

ISSUE PRESENTED

1. Is Paris Chambers entitled to sentence modification or resentencing because his global prison sentence is unduly harsh and unconscionable?

The circuit court answered no.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

The briefs will fully address the issue presented, so Mr. Chambers does not request oral argument. See Wis. Stat. § 809.22(2)(b). He does not request publication because this appeal can be resolved by applying established legal precedent to the facts. See id. § 809.23(1)(b)1., 3.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Mr. Chambers grew up under harsh circumstances, to say the least. He never knew his father, and barely knew his mother. (61:22-23; App. 122-23). When Mr. Chambers was six years old, his mother died of an apparent drug overdose right in front of him. (61:23; App. 123). Mr. Chambers and his biological siblings were then put in foster care and split up. (61:23; App. 123). While in foster care, Mr. Chambers was physically abused by being beaten with belts and straps. Eventually, he was placed in a

supportive adoptive home with non-relatives. (61:23-24; App. 123-24). His adoptive family consisted of a mother, grandfather, sister, and two foster siblings. However, his adoptive grandfather—who was the closest person to a father figure that Mr. Chambers had ever known in his life—was shot and killed in 2010. (16:3; App. 172).

A psychological evaluation revealed that Mr. Paris was a "deprived, struggling child," who displayed indicators of Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder (ADHD), depression, and poor cognitive development. (16:2; 61:24; App. 124, 171). Despite these mental health issues, however, Mr. Chambers' adoptive mother had stopped getting him necessary treatment and therapy. (61:24; App. 124).

Despite his rough childhood, Mr. Chambers had no prior criminal record of any kind—no juvenile record, no criminal record, and no history of violence. (61:24-25; App. 124-25). He was also on track to graduate from Ronald Reagan High School, one of the top public schools in Milwaukee. (61:25-26; App. 125-26). He also planned on attending college after graduation. (61:27; App. 127).

Shortly before the offenses charged in these cases, Mr. Chambers' adoptive mother had kicked him out of their home over an argument about disobeying curfew. (61:33-34; App. 133-34).

Allegations of the criminal complaints

On January 25, 2016, the State filed a criminal complaint in Milwaukee County Case No. 16-CF-286 (Appeal No. 2019AP000018) charging Chambers with two counts of theft (value \$2,500 to \$5,000), as party to a crime. (1:1). The complaint alleged that on January 22, 2016, Mr. Chambers, who was seventeen years old at the time, went out with his friend, Earl Blackmon, who was also seventeen. At a certain point, the two decided to steal a car. They saw a silver PT Cruiser, and Mr. Blackmon used a screwdriver to open the driver's side window and reached inside to unlock the door. The two then got in the car, with Mr. Blackmon in the driver's seat. Mr. Blackmon used the screwdriver to start the vehicle and drove the car to pick up another friend, a juvenile, R.N. (1:1-2).

While driving around, the three friends saw a blue Dodge Neon. Mr. Blackmon again used the screwdriver to open and start that car. He then drove the Neon with Mr. Chambers in the passenger seat, while R.N. drove the PT Cruiser. Mr. Blackmon subsequently crashed the Neon into another car. He and Mr. Chambers then got into the PT Cruiser. R.N., however, collided with another car a few blocks away. All three then fled on foot, but an armed

¹ All citations to the circuit court record are to the record for Appeal No. 2019AP000018-CR unless otherwise noted.

citizen ordered Mr. Chambers back to the scene. (1:1-2).

Following his initial appearance on January 25, 2016, Mr. Chambers was released on bond. (54:6). Thereafter, on February 9, 2016, the State filed a second criminal complaint in Milwaukee County Case No. 16-CF-613 (Appeal No. 2019AP000017-CR) charging Mr. Chambers with the following counts: (Count 2)² attempted operation of a vehicle without the owner's consent, as party to a crime; (Count 3) criminal damage to property, as party to a crime; (Count 6) operating a vehicle without the owner's consent, as party to a crime; (Count 7) criminal damage to property, as party to a crime; (Count 8) felony bail jumping; and (Count 9) felony bail jumping. (2019AP000017-CR, 1:1-3).

The complaint alleged that on January 26, 2016, Mr. Blackmon and Mr. Chambers stole a silver Jeep Liberty. On January 28, 2016, Mr. Blackmon was driving the Jeep Liberty with Mr. Chambers in the passenger seat. The two again decided to steal another vehicle because the Jeep Liberty was running low on gas. They saw a blue Dodge Durango in the parking lot of an apartment complex. Mr. Blackmon attempted "pop" the ignition, but was unable to do so. The two then drove around the parking lot shooting BB guns at other vehicles. (2019AP00017-CR, 1:4-5).

 $^{^2}$ Counts 1, 4, and 5 pertained to only Mr. Blackmon. (2019AP000017, 1:1-2).

The complaint further alleged that on February 3, 2016, Mr. Blackmon drove the Jeep Liberty with Mr. Chambers again in the passenger seat to General Mitchell International Airport. In the airport parking lot, the two broke into numerous vehicles in search of property to steal. They also shot BB guns at numerous vehicles, breaking windows. Sheriff's deputies ultimately located forty vehicles that had damage to the windows or exteriors. (2019AP00017-CR, 1:5-6).

Mr. Blackmon later drove the Jeep Liberty out of the parking structure and ran over the curb to avoid paying for parking. An officer on patrol saw the vehicle and attempted to initiate a traffic stop. Mr. Blackmon, however, ran a red light and drove away at a high rate of speed. The officer initially pursued, but ultimately terminated pursuit. Also on February 3, 2016, deputies discovered that a red Ford F150 had been stolen from the airport parking lot. (2019AP00017-CR, 1:5-6).

On February 4, 2016, officers were dispatched in response to seven calls concerning BB gun damage to houses and cars. All callers reported seeing a large red truck drive off. With respect to one of these incidents, a homeowner reported that she was in her living room when she heard the sound of glass breaking. She then felt something hit the left side of her face and saw broken glass on the ground. Deputies later located the red F150 in the parking lot of a McDonald's. Mr. Blackmon and Mr. Chambers were arrested at that location. Following their

arrest, they both admitted to stealing the Jeep Liberty and Ford F150, as well as to causing the other damage to the vehicles at the airport. Mr. Chambers explained that he does not know how to drive, so Mr. Blackmon always drove. (2019AP00017-CR, 1:6-7).

Finally, the complaint alleged as read-in charges that Mr. Blackmon and Mr. Chambers had damaged nineteen other vehicles at the airport between January 30 and February 2, 2016. It also alleged that they had damaged seven vehicles at St. Luke's Hospital on January 30, 2016. (2019AP00017-CR, 1:7).

The plea and sentencing hearings

On July 14, 2016, Mr. Chambers entered guilty pleas to all the charges against him. (60:26-28). In exchange, the State agreed to read in the uncharged conduct described in the complaint in Case No. 16-CF-613. It also agreed to recommend a prison sentence, but leave the length to the court's discretion. (60:2-3). The Honorable Mark A. Sanders presided over the plea hearing. (60).

On August 16, 2016, the court, the Honorable Christopher T. Dee now presiding,³ conducted Mr. Chambers' sentencing hearing. As agreed, the State recommended a prison sentence, but left the length to the court's discretion. (61:21; App. 121).

³ The case was reassigned to Judge Dee due to Milwaukee County's judicial rotation system.

The prosecutor asserted "that anything other than a would unduly depreciate sentence seriousness of these countless offenses." (61:20-21; App. 121). Defense counsel asked the court to impose and stay a one-year jail sentence and place Mr. Chambers on probation. (61:21; App. 121). counsel noted, Mr. Chambers was only seventeen years old at the time of these offenses, and he was still a junior in high school. (61:22, 25-26; App. 122, 125-26). He had not even learned to drive yet. It was thus Mr. Blackmon who always drove, including when he fled from the police in the Jeep Liberty. (2019000017, 1:7; see also 61:27, 37-39; App. 127, 137-39). Counsel therefore asked the court to "consider Mr. Chambers' inherent immaturity" in imposing sentence. (61:22; App. 122).

Defense counsel told the court that Mr. Chambers' adoptive mother had kicked him out of their home shortly before these offenses occurred, and thus he had no support and was reliant on friends. (61:33-34; App. 133-34). This made him particularly vulnerable to negative peer influences and resulted in a situation that quickly spiraled out of control.

As defense counsel explained:

[This] kind of reminded him of back when he was in foster care and that tenuousness, that balance beam, You Honor, living with other people and having to live by their rules, eat when they eat. If one of them asks you to come out and do some crimes with him, you have a different level of persuasion. He was at a stage where he doesn't have any money. He doesn't have any income because his adoptive mother isn't supporting him. So you think about breaking into cars. It's an easy way to make money on the surface of it, right? He was like, a 17-year-old idea of no way will I be caught. You do one. Boy, that was easy. I got away with it. You do another.

(61:34; App. 134).

After hearing the parties' recommendations and arguments, the court began its sentencing explanation by discussing the seriousness of the offenses and the need to protect the public. It noted that the crimes in these cases had a number of effects on the victims. They had damaged their sense of trust and security in being able to park their cars near their homes, places of employment, and other locations. (61:45-46; App. 145-46). They had also, the court stated, resulted in considerable hassle and inconvenience. (61:46; App. 146). Some people had to deal with body shops and insurance agents, and others had to take the bus to work or get rides from friends. (61:46-47; App. 146-47).

The offenses had also, according to the court, inflicted a "deep wound" on the City of Milwaukee. (61:48; App. 148). The crimes at the airport, in particular, had done "great damage to the reputation of the airport" and were "incredibly disabling to an entire community," the court stated. (61:48-49; App. 148-49).

Next, the court discussed the issue of deterrence. It pointed out that after Mr. Chambers had been arrested and released in Case No. 16-CF-286, he committed numerous other offenses. (61:49; App. 149). The court said, "there has to be a message sent that we just can't have widespread and wanton destruction like this." (61:49; App. 149).

Regarding Mr. Chambers' background, the court acknowledged that his father abandoned him when he was very young, and that his mother died when he was only six. (61:50; App. 150). The court described these events as "unfortunate." (61:50; App. 150). It also acknowledged that Mr. Chambers had been in foster care after the death of his mother, which it stated is "not a party for any child." (61:50; App. 150). In addition, the court noted that Mr. Chambers suffered from depression and ADHD. It concluded, however, that neither of these mental health issues was particularly relevant to these (61:50-51; App. 150-51). The court further cases. concluded that Mr. Chambers had already been given "tremendous breaks" in light of the numerous uncharged offenses that were dismissed and read-in. (61:52-53; App. 152-53). While it acknowledged that he had no prior criminal record, the court stated it believed this "was taken into account in the DA's charging decisions." (61:53; App. 153). The court stated it did not think Mr. Chambers had intended to hurt anyone, but nevertheless, his actions put numerous people, including himself, at risk. (61:53; App. 153).

The court then offered the following concluding remarks:

I can't in good conscience put you on probation, even though this is kind of your first entrée into the criminal justice world. There are just too many incidents. You've received a tremendous break already, quite frankly. And again, because of the repeated, repeated, repeated nature of this, I'm not finding you eligible for earned release credit or the Boot Camp, and I won't sign an expunction. There is just too much of this, way too much. One or two things, I could kind of get that, but you have so much responsibility here for so much damage to so many people, that would unduly depreciate the seriousness of all this.

And again, I tend to agree with your attorney that prison and that sort of thing ought to be reserved for more violent offenders, but you've just done too much here, it can't be avoided.

(61:54-55; App. 154-55).

Shortly thereafter, the court imposed sentence. In Case No. 16-CF-286, the court imposed the following consecutive sentences: on Count 1, one year initial confinement and two years of extended supervision; and on Count 2, one year of initial confinement and two years of extended supervision. (61:55; App. 155). In Case No. 16-CF-613, the court the following imposed sentences, again consecutive: on Count 2, one year of initial confinement and two years of extended supervision; on Count 3, 150 days in the House of Corrections; on Count 6, eighteen months of initial confinement and two years of extended supervision; on Count 7, 150 days in the House of Corrections; on Count 8, two years of initial confinement and three years of extended supervision; and on Count 9, two years of initial confinement and three years of extended supervision. (61:55; App. 155).

Mr. Chambers' global sentence therefore totaled eight-and-a-half years of initial confinement and fourteen years of extended supervision, plus an additional 300 days of jail time, two-thirds of which will be served in prison. See Wis. Stat. § 302.11(1). Mr. Chambers' global term of confinement will therefore be just over nine years in length.

$Post conviction\ proceedings$

Mr. Chambers subsequently filed a Rule 809.30 postconviction motion seeking sentence modification on the grounds that: (1) he had been diagnosed with post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD) post-sentencing, which helped to explain his "reckless or self-destructive behavior," as this one of the

⁴ Pursuant to Wisconsin law, this jail time will be served in prison. *See* Wis. Stat. § 973.03(2) ("A defendant sentenced to the Wisconsin state prisons and to a county jail or house of corrections for separate crimes shall serve all sentences whether concurrent or consecutive in the state prisons."). The mandatory release date for both jail sentences will be two-thirds of the sentence. *See* Wis. Stat. § 302.11(1). Mr. Chambers' total term of confinement will therefore be just over nine years.

hallmarks of PTSD (47:8-17); and (2) his global sentence was unduly harsh and excessive (47:17-20). Specifically, he requested that the court modify his sentences on Counts 8 and 9 in Case No. 16-CF-613 by making those sentence concurrent with his other sentences. (47:1, 20). This would have had the effect of reducing his total prison sentence from eight-anda-half years of initial confinement and fourteen years of extended supervision to four-and-a-half years of initial confinement and eight years of extended supervision (plus 300 days in jail). In addition, he requested that the court further modify his sentences to make him eligible for the Substance Abuse Program and the Challenge Incarceration Program. (47:1, 20). In the event the circuit court denied his request for sentence modification, Mr. Chambers requested resentencing on the grounds that his global sentence was unduly harsh and excessive. (47:2, 20).

The circuit court issued a written decision and order denying Mr. Chambers' motion in its entirety. (51; App. 163-69). Regarding his new factor claim, the court concluded that Mr. Chambers' PTSD was not highly relevant to his sentences and did not justify sentence modification. (51:3-6; App. 165-68). Regarding his claim that his sentences were legally harsh and excessive, the court stated that "based on all of the facts and circumstances of these cases, the sentences imposed are not unduly harsh unconscionable. The court perceives no erroneous exercise of discretion in sentencing and denies the defendant's request to modify or resentence the defendant on this case." (51:6; App. 168).

This appeal follows.

ARGUMENT

- I. This court should modify Mr. Chambers' sentences or order resentencing because his global prison sentence is unduly harsh and unconscionable.
 - A. General legal principles.

Wisconsin legislature has "vested a discretion in the sentencing judge, which must be exercised on a rational and explainable basis." McCleary v. State, 49 Wis. 2d 263, 276, 182 N.W.2d 512 (1971). That discretion has limits, however. "It flies in the face of reason and logic, as well as the basic precepts of our American ideals, to conclude that the legislature vested unbridled authority in the judiciary when it so carefully spelled out the duties and obligations of the judges in all other aspects of criminal proceedings." Id."Discretion is not synonymous with decision-making. Rather, the term contemplates a process of reasoning." *Id.* at 277. Accordingly, it is a well-settled principle that appellate courts retain the authority to review whether sentencing discretion has been appropriately exercised. *Id.*; State v. Harris, 2010 WI 79, ¶30, 326 Wis. 2d 685, 786 N.W.2d 409.

The Wisconsin Supreme Court has recognized that a circuit court erroneously exercises its discretion when it imposes sentences that are unduly harsh or unconscionable. *Ocanas v. State*, 70 Wis. 2d 179, 185, 233 N.W.2d 457 (1975). A sentence is unduly harsh or unconscionable when it "is so excessive and unusual and so disproportionate to the offense committed as to shock public sentiment and violate the judgment of reasonable people concerning what is right and proper under the circumstances." *State v. Grindemann*, 2002 WI App 106, ¶31, 255 Wis. 2d 632, 648 N.W.2d 507 (citing *Ocanas*, 70 Wis. 2d at 185).

"Wisconsin courts have inherent authority to modify criminal sentences." *State v. Harbor*, 2001 WI 28, ¶35, 333 Wis. 2d 53, 797 N.W.2d 828. A court cannot modify a sentence based upon mere reflection; however, it can modify a sentence when it determines the sentence is unduly harsh or unconscionable, even if no new factor is present. *Id.*, ¶35 n.8.

B. Standard of review.

Mr. Chambers asserts that this court should independently review the record in this case to determine whether his sentences are unduly harsh or unconscionable, without deference to the trial court's postconviction determination. Mr. Chambers acknowledges that this court has stated that it "reviews a trial court's conclusion that a sentence it imposed was *not* unduly harsh and unconscionable for an erroneous exercise of discretion." *State v. Giebel*, 198 Wis. 2d 207, 220, 541 N.W.2d 815 (Ct. App. 1995). That standard is circular and illogical, however.

Again, in *Ocanas*, the Wisconsin Supreme Court held that a circuit court erroneously exercises its discretion when it imposes a sentence that is unduly harsh or unconscionable. *Ocanas*, 70 Wis. 2d at 185. Accordingly, if a circuit court imposes a sentence that is, in fact, legally harsh and excessive, it has already erroneously exercised its discretion from the start. If that same court then concludes on postconviction review that its sentence was not legally harsh and excessive, it makes little sense to ask whether the court properly exercised its discretion in doing so, because the underlying sentence already represents an erroneous exercise of discretion.

Consequently, whether a particular sentence is unduly harsh and excessive is better viewed as a question of law, since it turns on whether a particular sentence meets an applicable legal standard. State v. Rizzo, 2002 WI 20, ¶19, 250 Wis. 2d 407, 640 N.W.2d 92 ("Whether a given set of facts meets a particular legal standard is a question of law for our independent review."). Again, if a sentence meets the applicable legal standard (i.e., is unduly harsh or unconscionable), the trial court has by definition erroneously exercised its discretion. This court should therefore independently review the sentencing record to determine whether Mr. Chambers' sentences are unduly harsh or unconscionable.

C. Mr. Chambers' sentences are utterly shocking and violate the judgment of reasonable people.

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