Case 2019AP000018 Brief of Respondent Filed 05-15-2019 Page 1 of 17

### **RECEIVED**

STATE OF WISCONSIN 05-14-2019

# COURT OF APPEAL SCLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

DISTRICT I

Case Nos. 2019AP17-CR & 2019AP18-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

PARIS MARKESE CHAMBERS,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND AN ORDER DENYING POSTCONVICTION RELIEF ENTERED IN THE MILWAUKEE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE T. CHRISTOPHER DEE, PRESIDING

#### BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

JOSHUA L. KAUL Attorney General of Wisconsin

SARAH L. BURGUNDY Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1071646

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

#### ARGUMENT

### Chambers's sentence was not unduly harsh or unconscionable.

Chambers's claim concerns both the circuit court's initial exercise of sentencing discretion and its subsequent discretionary decision that his sentence was not unduly harsh or unconscionable. The relevant legal principles governing each of those discretionary decisions follow.

## A. Circuit courts have considerable discretion in fashioning sentences.

Circuit courts retain considerable discretion at sentencing. *Gallion*, 270 Wis. 2d 535, ¶ 17. If the circuit court demonstrated a process of reasoning and came to a reasonable conclusion based on legally relevant facts and factors, this Court will not interfere with the sentencing decision. *State v. Cummings*, 2014 WI 88, ¶ 75, 357 Wis. 2d 1, 850 N.W.2d 915 (citation omitted). Accordingly, this Court will reverse a circuit court's exercise of sentencing decision only if the circuit court erroneously exercised its discretion. *Gallion*, 270 Wis. 2d 535, ¶ 17.

When fashioning a sentence, a sentencing court must consider the gravity of the offense, the need to protect the public, the defendant's rehabilitative needs, and any applicable aggravating or mitigating factors. Wis. Stat. § 973.017(2). The sentence should reflect the minimum amount of confinement necessary that is consistent with these factors. *Gallion*, 270 Wis. 2d 535, ¶ 44. The court may also consider the following: (1) the defendant's criminal history; (2) any history of undesirable behavior patterns; (3) the defendant's personality and character; (4) the presentence investigation results; (5) the vicious or aggravated nature of the crime; (6) the defendant's degree of culpability; (7) the defendant's demeanor at trial; (8) the defendant's age,

education and employment history; (9) the defendant's remorse, repentance and cooperativeness; (10) the need for rehabilitative control; (11) the rights of the public; and (12) the length of pretrial detention. *Harris v. State*, 75 Wis. 2d 513, 519–20, 250 N.W.2d 7 (1977). The circuit court retains considerable discretion in determining which factors are relevant and most important to its sentencing decision. *Gallion*, 270 Wis. 2d 535, ¶ 68; *State v. Grady*, 2007 WI 81, ¶ 31, 302 Wis. 2d 80, 734 N.W.2d 364.

## B. Circuit courts have limited authority to modify sentences.

A court may modify a sentence if it determines that the sentence was unduly harsh or unconscionable. *Cummings*, 357 Wis. 2d 1, ¶ 71 (citing *State v. Harbor*, 2011 WI 28, ¶ 35, 333 Wis. 2d 53, 797 N.W.2d 828). "A circuit court may not . . . modify a sentence merely 'on reflection and second thoughts alone." Id. ¶ 70 (quoting Harbor, 333 Wis. 2d 53, ¶ 35).

"A sentence is unduly harsh or unconscionable 'only where the sentence is so excessive and unusual and so disproportionate to the offense committed as to shock public sentiment and violate the judgment of reasonable people concerning what isright and proper under circumstances." Cummings, 357 Wis. 2d 1, ¶ 72 (quoting Ocanas v. State, 70 Wis. 2d 179, 185, 233 N.W.2d 457 (1975)). A sentence well within the limits of the maximum sentence is presumptively not unduly harsh or unconscionable. State v. Grindemann, 2002 WI App 106, ¶ 32, 255 Wis. 2d 632, 648 N.W.2d 507.

This Court reviews a postconviction court's determination "that a sentence imposed was not unduly harsh

or unconscionable for an erroneous exercise of discretion." Id.  $\P$  30.2

- C. Chambers failed to demonstrate that his sentence was unduly harsh or unconscionable.
  - 1. Chambers's sentence was well within the statutory maximums; hence, it is presumptively not unduly harsh or unconscionable.

Chambers was convicted of the following six felony and two misdemeanor crimes:

- Take and drive a vehicle without consent, as a party to a crime, a Class H felony;
- Attempt to take and drive a vehicle without consent, as a party to a crime, a Class H felony<sup>3</sup>;
- Two counts of theft (\$2,500 to \$5,000) as a party to a crime, a Class I felony;

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Chambers proposes that this Court should review whether his sentence was unduly harsh and unconscionable "as a question of law." (Chambers's Br. 14−15.) He claims that "unduly harsh and unconscionable" is a legal standard that is better viewed through a de novo lens. (*Id.*) To start, this Court's deference to the circuit court's sentencing decisions, as well as the erroneous-exercise standard for unduly-harsh-sentence claims, are well-established in the law, which this Court cannot overrule or modify. *See Cook v. Cook*, 208 Wis. 2d 166, 189, 560 N.W.2d 246 (1997). In any event, the unduly-harsh standard is tied to the circuit court's inherent authority to revise a sentence. *Grindemann*, 255 Wis. 2d 632, ¶ 21. It is not an objective legal standard or tied to a constitutional right, which are the features that would normally prompt de novo review.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The maximum term of imprisonment for an attempt is one-half of the maximum term of imprisonment for a Class H felony under Wis. Stat. § 939.32(1g)(b)1.

Case 2019AP000018

- Two counts of bail jumping, a Class H felony; and
- Two counts of criminal damage to property, a Class A misdemeanor.

In total, Chambers's convictions exposed him to up to years' initial confinement, 14.5 years' extended 13.5supervision, 18 months' jail time, and \$55,000 in fines. With a confinement sentence of 8.5 years, he was sentenced to roughly two-thirds that maximum initial confinement time, and with a jail sentence of 300 days, he received just over half the maximum on the misdemeanors, and no fines. His confinement time on both the misdemeanors and felonies is "well within" the statutory maximum and is presumptively not unduly harsh or unconscionable. Grindemann, 255 Wis. 2d 632, ¶ 32.

> 2. There is no basis in the record to conclude that the sentences were "nonetheless, unduly harsh or unconscionable."

Here, the court at sentencing addressed all of the relevant sentencing factors, including seriousness of the crimes, the read-in conduct, character, protection of the public, and deterrence.

Seriousness of the crimes. The court noted the victim who was hit with broken glass from the BB hitting her window, and told Chambers, "[Pleople were hurt and people were put at tremendous exposure of getting hurt from these

supervision. Chambers argues that the confinement period—not the period of extended supervision—is unduly harsh. (See Chambers's Br. 16 (claiming that confinement portion is unduly harsh); id. at 17 (same); id. at 23 ("The lengthy prison sentence imposed in this case is particularly harsh given Mr. Chambers's

<sup>4</sup> While Chambers requests a shorter period of extended

traumatic childhood."); id. at 24–25 (same).

7

Case 2019AP000018 Brief of Respondent Filed 05-15-2019 Page 11 of 17

accidents . . . You were at great risk of getting hurt." (R. 61:53.)

The court also appropriately considered the read-in uncharged conduct in determining the seriousness of the crime. See State v. Floyd, 2000 WI 14, ¶ 25, 232 Wis. 2d 767, 606 N.W.2d 155. The court emphasized the widespread nature of the crimes and that Chambers "repeatedly, repeatedly" stole and damaged cars and other property. It noted that Chambers was charged with eight counts but there the DA's office had referrals for over 60 possible charges that would have exposed him to "over 100 years of possible exposure in confinement. That's not even counting extended supervision." (R. 61:52.)

In the court's view, it was the sheer multitude of crimes in which Chambers participated that drove up the seriousness factor: "There are just too many incidents . . . way too much. One or two things, I could kind of get that, but you have so much responsibility here for so much damage to so many people, that would unduly depreciate the seriousness of all this." (R. 61:54.) The court explained that while it agreed generally that prison should "be reserved for more violent offenders, but you've just done too much here, it can't be avoided. . . . [I]n 25 years I just don't think I've ever seen the breadth or depth or extent of property damage, criminality by one person." (R. 61:54–55.)

Character. The court highlighted that here, Chambers was arrested and released after the first set of incidents on January 22, and while released, Chambers went and "pick[ed] up a raft of other charges. I guess you didn't think it was that serious. You didn't quite understand what was going on." (R. 61:49.) The court described Chambers's "persistence" in recommitting so quickly after having been arrested on the original two offenses "especially disturbing." (R. 61:51.)

The court also considered Chambers's history, explaining that Chambers was not at fault for his traumatic childhood:

Well, you certainly didn't have a great childhood, and that's unfortunate. That's not your fault. You didn't ask for that. It is unfortunate that your father took off. It's unfortunate that your mother passed away. You bounced around the foster care system, and that's not a party for any child. I worked out in that system for many years. That's rough on kids, no doubt about it. You were adopted which initially seemed to be a good thing, but something broke down there. I don't know exactly when. And again, not something you asked for, and I get that.

(R. 61:50.)

The court also factored Chambers's mental health issues, "ADHD and depression," which could explain his actions to the extent that they were impulsive. (R. 61:50–51.) That said, the court continued, Chambers had planned out the crimes by going to so many locations, arming himself with BB guns, and carrying burglary tools. (R. 61:51.)

The court weighed as a mitigating factor Chambers's lack of a prior criminal record (R. 61:53), though the court believed that the DA's office took that into account when it declined to issue more charges (R. 61:53). It also considered that while Chambers did not act violently toward any of the victims personally or intend to hurt anybody, he put others, including himself, in harm's way by his actions. (R. 61:53.)

Protection of the public. The court noted that there were a few aspects to protection of the public that were in play. First, the public had interest in being able to park their cars in public places without property damage and without the expense of having to repair the damage and the hassle and disabling effects of losing access to a car. (R. 61:45–46.) In addition, the crimes disabled the victims psychologically by causing "loss of trust, anxiety, not being able to park in a

garage anymore, not visiting certain other places anymore, people losing sense of security around their own homes, their own place of work." (R. 61:46.) Finally, looking at the protection of the public from "a more community-wide view," Chambers's crimes and the sheer number of incidents he participated in caused economic and reputational damage to the city and county. (R. 61:47–48.)

**Deterrence.** The court explained that Chambers's committing the second batch of crimes almost immediately after his arrest and release for the first set of crimes required it to send a message "that we just can't have widespread and wanton destruction like this. It is absolutely unacceptable. And it has to be a strong message." (R. 61:49.)

Given the court's sentencing remarks, its collective, consecutive sentences totaling just over nine years of prison and jail time and 13.5 months' extended supervision did not "shock public sentiment and violate the judgment of reasonable people concerning what is right and proper under the circumstances." *Grindemann*, 255 Wis. 2d 632, ¶ 31.

**Postconviction review.** Further, the postconviction court, which was the same court that originally sentenced Chambers, soundly denied Chambers's motion for resentencing. (R. 51:6.) The court focused on Chambers's claim that his later-diagnosed PTSD was a new factor entitling him to sentence modification, but made clear that "a message has to be sent that this type of activity will not be tolerated under any circumstances."

These may have been "lower level property crimes," as the defendant suggests, but there were A LOT of them, an outrageous amount of them, a completely unacceptable amount, and the harm could have been far worse in terms of injury to innocent people by the shooting spree on which he embarked.

(R. 51:6.) The court further declined to make Chambers, as he requested, eligible for early release programs "because it

intends the defendant to serve the full sentences without the benefit of such programs," regardless whether Chambers was a good candidate for the programs. (R. 51:6.)

Taken together and given the breadth of the crimes Chambers committed, the court's sentence of just over nine years' confinement time and less than 14 years' extended supervision does not offend the judgment of a reasonable person. The court soundly exercised its discretion.

## D. Chambers identifies no improper exercise of discretion by the court.

Chambers's argument to the contrary reads like a reargument of all the reasons his trial counsel already advanced to the court to urge a shorter sentence. But, as discussed above, the court considered and weighed, as it had discretion to do, that Chambers committed primarily property crimes and did not mean to hurt anyone (Chamber's Br. 16–17) and that Chambers had a traumatic upbringing and had unmet mental health needs (Chambers's Br. 22–24).

Chambers claims that the court did not assign adequate mitigating weight to the fact that he was 17 years old and not fully brain-developed at the time of his crimes. (Chambers's Br. 17–22.) But Chambers's counsel informed the court of Chambers's young age and urged it to treat him more like a juvenile than an adult. (R. 61:22–23.) The court was entitled to weigh that fact as it chose. It was also entitled to weigh the fact that Chambers avoided significantly more exposure due to the State's decision to not charge him for the 60-plus crimes that were referred. Given that the court soundly determined that Chambers's choice to continue his spree of property damage and risky conduct immediately after having been arrested outweighed his youth and his lack of prior record. Contrary to Chambers's claim that "[h]e therefore has never really [had] a 'second chance" (Chambers's Br. 22), the court's sentence reflects its reasonable view that Chambers had

Case 2019AP000018 Brief of Respondent Filed 05-15-2019 Page 15 of 17

multiple "second chances" each time he chose to commit a new criminal act—particularly after his first arrest—and wholly earned the sentence it imposed.

Chambers claims that he should be made eligible for SAP and CIP early release programming. (Chambers's Br. 26–27.) But the court soundly deemed Chambers ineligible.

A court decides "as part of the exercise of its sentencing discretion," a defendant's eligibility to participate in CIP or SAP. Wis. Stat. § 973.01(3g)–(3m). "[W]hile the trial court must state whether the defendant is eligible or ineligible for the program[s]," the court is not required to make "completely separate findings on the reason for the eligibility decision, so long as the overall sentencing rationale also justifies the" program-eligibility determination. *State v. Owens*, 2006 WI App 75, ¶ 9, 291 Wis. 2d 229, 713 N.W.2d 187.

Here, the circuit court gave sound reasons for declining to extend eligibility to Chambers: (1) it intended for Chambers to serve the full period of incarceration for his sentences, regardless whether he was a good candidate for it (R. 51:6), and (2) Chambers committed so many crimes that eligibility for early release would unduly depreciate the seriousness of Chambers's crime spree (R. 61:54). Those reasons were consistent with its overall sentencing rationale that a strong punishment component was warranted given the quantity of crimes Chambers involved himself in, especially after he was arrested and released, and the fact that he was not charged for the great majority of those crimes.

In sum, Chambers identifies nothing that the circuit court did—either at sentencing or in its postconviction decision—that represented an improper exercise of discretion. He is not entitled to relief.

#### CONCLUSION

This Court should affirm the judgment of conviction and the decision and order denying postconviction relief.